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Chair Mosca: 

[Roll was called. Committee rules and protocol were reviewed.] Welcome to the Assembly 

Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections. We have two bills we will hear in order 

today, so we will start by opening the hearing on Assembly Bill 585. This measure revises 

provisions relating to bill draft requests, and we have Assemblymember Yeager here today as 

well as Mr. Asher Killian. You may begin when you are ready. 

 

Assembly Bill 585: Revises provisions relating to bill draft requests. (BDR 17-1137) 

 

Assemblymember Steve Yeager, Assembly District No. 9: 

As you noted, Mr. Killian is with me here at the table. I am sure he will note he is 

nonpartisan staff, so he does not have a position on the policy in the bill. He, as the head of 

those who draft the bills, will be able to answer any sort of technical questions about how this 

bill will work. I appreciate him being at the table with me.  

 

I am pleased to present Assembly Bill 585 this afternoon, which revises provisions relating to 

bill draft requests (BDRs). As you are aware, each legislative session, legislators and other 

entities may request the drafting of legislation for potential consideration by the Legislature. 

These requests, commonly known as bill draft requests, are submitted to the Legal Division 

of the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB), whose staff works with the requesting party to 

draft the legislation with the appropriate details. You all know this because you have 

requested your BDRs and gotten them drafted.  

 

Just so the record is clear, state law actually prescribes the number of BDRs allocated to 

legislators and others who are authorized to submit BDRs. This includes legislative 

committees, the Governor, constitutional officers, local governments, and various other state 

agencies and entities. Assembly Bill 585 seeks to reduce the existing BDR allocations for 

legislators, constitutional officers, and the majority and minority leaders of both houses. 

Additionally, the bill revises the deadlines for the Governor to submit the five BDRs 

proposing to implement his or her legislative agenda and establishes deadlines for such 

measures to be either prefiled or introduced depending on whether there is a gubernatorial 

election preceding the regular session.  

 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12937/Overview/


Assembly Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections 
May 22, 2025 
Page 3 
 

Chair, I tread into these waters lightly because I know that talking about reducing BDRs 

always comes with some risk of rebellion. I do think this is the right thing to do to ensure that 

our staff has adequate time to draft bills and keep us on track during session. Sometimes we 

all need a little bit of extra motivation to get those details to Legal so they can start drafting, 

and I will say I am as guilty of that as anybody. We all know there is a lot that happens 

between legislative sessions. We have interim committees and responsibilities and then, if 

you are in the Assembly, you are running for reelection every interim. If you are in the 

Senate, every other interim you are running for reelection. I believe if this bill passes, it will 

give us—as legislators—the push we need to get our information to our bill drafters more 

promptly.  

 

Chair, I want to go through the sections of the bill rather quickly and then we will be happy 

to answer questions. Section 1 reduces the number of BDRs legislators may request prior to 

session from 9 to 6 for Assembly members and from 18 to 12 for Senators. Currently, there 

are two deadlines in place for members to submit these presession bill draft requests. 

Assembly Bill 585 retains those deadlines of August 1 and December 1 preceding a regular 

session but divides the new BDR allocations evenly between the two dates and adds a new 

stipulation for requests submitted during the period from August 2 to December 1. Section 1 

provides that a legislator may submit, by December 1, a number of BDRs equal to the 

number of BDRs the legislator submitted by August 1 for which sufficient detail was also 

submitted to allow for the complete drafting of the bill.  

 

For example, if an Assembly member submits three BDRs before the August 1 deadline—the 

maximum allowable under this bill—and provides details to allow LCB Legal Division to 

complete the drafting of these bills, then the Assembly member is entitled to submit an 

additional three BDRs by December 1. Now, if an Assembly member only provides details 

for one of those BDRs, then the Assembly member may only submit one additional BDR by 

December 1. Additionally, that section provides that if a legislator withdraws one of their 

BDRs they submitted before August 1, they can use that BDR towards their allocation of 

BDRs due by December 1.  

 

I know this is a little convoluted, but you think about it, you get a set number and that is three 

on August 1; if you want to get three more by December 1, you either have to get your details 

into Legal so they can start drafting or you have to withdraw those requests. So, we can no 

longer have a bunch of BDRs put in on August 1 and then just say, Yeah, yeah, we will get 

the details to you later, and here are three more BDRs on December 1. That, frankly, is the 

problem that some of us—including myself—suffer from. We are not always good about 

getting those details.  

 

Section 2 reduces the number of BDRs for the Speaker of the Assembly and the Majority 

Leader of the Senate. Those are the BDRs that we can submit between the date of the general 

election and the session. That number would go from 15 to 10, so there is a reduction of 

5 BDRs for both the Speaker and Majority Leader. The Minority Leaders also have a 

reduction from 10 to 5 BDRs.  
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Section 3 specifies that the five BDRs the Governor may submit to propose his or her 

legislative agenda must be submitted to the Legal Division on or before August 1 preceding a 

regular session if there is not going to be a gubernatorial election held before the session. So, 

when a Governor is midterm and we know that Governor is going to be back because he or 

she is not up for reelection, they have to get those in by August 1. If it is an election year for 

the Governor, the BDRs must be submitted after the first Monday in January, but not later 

than the first day of session. We obviously want to do that because, if you are a newly elected 

governor, or if you are running for reelection, you do not know if you are going to win until 

the election happens. It is not really feasible to say you have to get those in by August 1 and 

we would not want to hamstring a brand-new governor and say, Sorry, you missed the 

deadline, you do not get any BDRs. When you think about how we functioned the last couple 

of sessions, especially this session, you see why. For those of you on the Assembly 

Committee on Ways and Means, we are going to be hearing the Governor's education bill 

tonight. We did not get that bill until about a week and a half ago and it is a really, really 

large bill.  

 

We are trying to accomplish a couple of things: we are trying to give Legal enough time to 

draft the bill, but we are also trying to give legislators enough time to be able to thoughtfully 

consider legislation by moving that date up. The later those bills come, the harder it is for us 

to engage in the process and do what we are tasked to do as legislators, which is to vet bills 

and come up with good policy. As a reminder, that only applies in a nonelection year for the 

Governor, so that would have applied this session. Next cycle, the Governor would have after 

the first Monday in January, but not later than the first day of session. Section 3 also reduces 

by one the number of BDRs that the Lieutenant Governor, Secretary of State, 

State Treasurer, State Controller, and Attorney General may submit by September 1 

preceding a regular session, and then reduces from two to one the number of BDRs the 

Secretary of State may submit by December 31 preceding a regular session.  

 

Finally, section 3 requires the BDRs proposing the Governor's legislative agenda to be 

prefiled on or before the tenth calendar day preceding a regular session if no gubernatorial 

election will be held before the next session begins. If there is an election, that would be 

introduced on or before day 15 of session. Again, in a nonelection year, we are just trying to 

get those bills earlier, and also in election years, we are trying to get those bills earlier 

because prefiling by the fifteenth day of session would mean that we would have 105 days to 

consider those bills—rather than the situation we are in right now with a couple of them 

where we have somewhere in the neighborhood of 18 to 20 days to consider them.  

 

That generally concludes my presentation, but I do want to answer one question I think I 

might get. I think that question is, how many fewer BDRs would this bill result in? To 

answer that you have to do a little bit of math and make some assumptions. For sure it will 

result in 18 fewer BDRs. That is just by the definition of the bill, by the reduction in the 

leadership, and by the reduction in the constitutional officers. How many fewer BDRs it 

would mean for legislators depends on whether the legislator is an incumbent or a first-time 

elected. I can give you a range—if this bill were to pass, we would see somewhere in the 

range of 186 to 270 fewer BDRs. That is an aggregate that comes from legislators and 
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constitutional officers, so it would depend a little bit on the makeup of the body. If all of us 

were to be defeated in our next elections and we had 42 members, it would be on the low side 

of that number. Hopefully that will answer that question. I want to thank you for your time 

and consideration of this bill. Mr. Killian and I would be happy to answer any questions.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

We do have a few questions. 

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

I have always been a fan of this bill. When I chaired this Committee in 2019, then 

Assemblymember Robin Titus brought the bill; unfortunately, we could not get it across the 

finish line. Then last session, Assemblymember McArthur brought the bill. I am happy to see 

this bill brought forward. I have always been a big fan of the policy, and I am hopeful we can 

get it across the finish line this time.  

 

My question is for Mr. Killian. Would you be able to explain to the Committee what this 

would mean for your ability to draft bills, how this would impact your division in drafting 

bills, and how it would impact your ability to get bills and amendments out?  

 

Asher A. Killian, Chief Deputy Legislative Counsel, Legal Division, Legislative Counsel 

Bureau: 

The biggest change we made going into this session from previous sessions was to try to use 

as much time as possible before the session starts to get drafting done. It probably comes as 

no surprise that drafting during session is the most difficult and inefficient kind of drafting 

for us to do. When our attorneys are in committee, when we are answering questions, when 

we are handling all of the operations of the Legislature itself, and when the members are here 

all day, we do not have a lot of time available during the day to draft. Our drafting typically 

gets pushed off into the night and gets compressed among all the other activities.  

 

This session we were able to actually keep committee counsels in committee for the entire 

session, which is the first time we have been able to do that. What enabled us to get there was 

using as much time as possible before session to draft. The complication is, if we have the 

request but we do not have the details, that limits the number of bills that we can actually 

draft before session. Probably the most impactful changes in this bill—for the operations of 

the Legal Division—would be the requirement for details to be submitted at the risk 

of potentially losing BDRs. That means we will have more of those details and be able to do 

more of that drafting before session, and also the change of the timeline for the Governor's 

legislative agenda BDRs. Those tend to be very large, policy-dense pieces of legislation. 

They are currently not due until day 19 of session. Giving us those extra six months to draft, 

starting on August 1, would make a huge difference. We are potentially drafting 1,000 pages 

of bills before session as opposed to right in the heart of session.  

 

Those are the ways this bill would help our operations the most. We want to shift as much 

drafting as possible outside of the time of session. This bill would help us to do significantly 

more of that drafting before we are tied up with session obligations.  
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Assemblymember Cole: 

My question relates to the notification from LCB that you do not have enough detail. 

Sometimes we will not know we have not provided you everything you need to properly 

draft these. Will there be a requirement that within a month of me submitting something, you 

tell me it is not sufficient; then maybe a couple of warnings—at the 5-yard line, 10-yard line 

kind of thing—that you are going to lose your bill? 

 

Asher Killian: 

Absolutely. We have not really had enforceable details deadlines in the past. You would get 

me reaching out to you to harangue you even though I did not necessarily have any teeth 

behind that. With this requirement as an option, we would absolutely be reaching out to you, 

both when you initially submit the request to let you know whether what you have submitted 

is already draftable, so you are good for that next allotment, or periodically throughout that 

time period between August 1 and December 10 to let you know what is still outstanding and 

what we still need details on.  

 

Ideally, it was my goal this time to make sure every member had at least one measure back 

before the election, fully drafted and ready to prefile. That will continue to be our practice, to 

have as many of those initial three back to you and ready before the election to prefile as 

possible. You will definitely know whether we have the details and, ideally, whether you 

have a bill back or not, whether the bills are actually in a position to be drafted or not. We 

will absolutely be in contact with you on that.  

 

Assemblymember Cole: 

Are you willing to put that in the statute?  

 

Asher Killian: 

I would be fine with that. However, that is a policy question that is more up to the sponsor of 

the bill and to this body to address.  

 

Assemblymember Dickman:  

Thank you for this bill, except for the deadlines. I have always been supportive of getting rid 

of bills. My question is, would the February bill we get still be there or not?  

 

Assemblymember Yeager: 

Yes, that stays the same. We did not make any changes to the one you have after session 

begins—one for us and two for the Senate. We were very mindful that is really an important 

one because usually you have that last minute idea you did not put in. That would stay the 

same. It is just the ones that happen prior to the election. If you are newly elected, it is 

the December 10 deadline, and if you are an incumbent, then it is the August and December 

deadlines.  

 

I understand your consternation about the drafting. To Assemblymember Cole's question, I 

do not know how many emails Mr. Killian sent me over the cycle saying, By the way, you 

have your BDRs in and we are not able to draft them. To his point, there is not really 
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enforcement behind that. I think we act accordingly because you say, Yeah, I will get to that 

when I get to it. For us, it is just trying to put that at the top of your list; you really do have to 

get to that. Honestly, I think it makes for a better legislative process because the more bills 

that we can have filed at the beginning of session, the fewer presentations you have to have 

in committee the first two weeks of session. You can start hearing bills right away. People 

can start engaging in those bills.  

 

No bill is perfect, but I think if we can shift some of that work to before session, it does not 

feel so hectic at this time of session when we are 12 days out from the end. I think we need 

something in there to get us to actually take notice of that. Or, if you are just not ready to go 

forward, you would have the option to withdraw that BDR, and then you would get another 

BDR. Essentially you could put in that BDR a second time if you were willing to withdraw 

the first one. We wanted to leave that option out there as well.  

 

Assemblymember Dickman: 

Many of my BDRs were constituent ideas and it is hard to get them in line for that deadline.  

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

I think this was the first legislative session since I have been here where we have seen this 

many bills be drafted before the legislative session. When we began this legislative session, 

we started with an historic number of bills that were ready to hear. I want to thank you and 

your division for that because it made managing the legislative session much easier for the 

Speaker and I. The reason we did not have to be here late on deadline days and did not have 

to waive rules was because you were able to get the amount of bills out in a timely manner.  

 

I am hoping that is the case for future sessions. I know this policy will allow us to achieve 

that so we are not here at midnight introducing bills or voting on bills. We were doing it 

between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Thank you so much, Mr. Killian, for your work, 

and thank your division for us.  

 

Asher Killian: 

I very much appreciate those comments. The division has been watching and hearing those 

comments as you have been expressing them on the floor of the Assembly throughout the 

session and it has made a difference. Morale is very much up. I have an incredible staff of 

attorneys. All of the credit goes to them and the work they have done to enable us to meet 

these kinds of deadlines so that you can move legislative business more efficiently. I am 

incredibly proud of the staff we have. They work very hard, for very long hours, and we 

could not do this without them.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

We echo that gratitude.  
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Assemblymember Edgeworth: 

I am all for this being a more efficient process, whatever that looks like. I am new, also I am 

not a math major, but it looks like the Majority Leader would lose 33 percent of their extra 

bills and the Minority Leader would lose 50 percent of their extra bills. I am sure these are 

not arbitrary numbers. Can you tell me a little bit about—was this based on what other states 

are doing, or how you came to these numbers? 

 

Assemblymember Yeager: 

It is not based on other states just because other states are all over the map, and I will tell 

you, it is not an exact science, either. Essentially, I just looked at, 15 seems like more—

I think the last two sessions I do not believe I put in even 10. I did do some historical analysis 

and I do not think the majority has ever used 15, or the minorities ever used 10. I really just 

said, Why do we not just cut 5 off of each of those? If there is a better number, I think that is 

appropriate as well. Those tend not to get used. If they are not going to get used, I think 

maybe we just should not have that many. Sometimes the incentive, at least for me, when I 

heard I get 15 more bills, it was like, well, can I try to find 15 more things? I do not know if 

that is the motivation we want to give to legislators; to find 15 more ideas, some of which are 

not well-thought-out, some of which are really difficult to draft. That was really an arbitrary 

number to say, Why do we not just subtract 5 from everybody? 

 

Chair Mosca: 

I will ask the last question. It is actually for Mr. Killian. Do we find that most legislators do 

not use all of their BDRs anyway? 

 

Asher Killian: 

There are a significant number that go unused. I want to say it was somewhere in the 

neighborhood of 10 to 15 percent that simply did not get requested this time. The number of 

withdrawn does not necessarily match the number that are unused. In addition to those that 

do not get requested in the first place, there are a substantial number—well in excess of 

half—that go in initially as placeholders and then some of those placeholders just never gain 

details. There is an additional probably 10 to 15 percent that began their life as placeholders 

and simply never got fleshed out. There is a significant number of slack in the existing 

number of BDRs.  

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

I just have one more question because I am not sure if you have these numbers. Roughly how 

many bills in total get introduced and roughly how many bills pass?  

 

Asher Killian: 

In a typical session, we will get between 1,200 to 1,500 BDRs. We will get somewhere in the 

neighborhood of 1,000 to 1,200 bills actually introduced. Typically, the cutoff is somewhere 

between 60 to 70 percent of bills get enacted, and then somewhere between 50 to 60 percent 

of the total number of bills ultimately get signed by the Governor and become law. There is  
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an attrition rate of somewhere between 30 to 40 percent that is fairly consistent between 

sessions for how many bills get introduced versus how many bills then ultimately become 

law. 

 

Assemblymember Miller: 

This bill has been brought multiple times, and we had a member a few sessions ago who 

actually calculated the cost of every single BDR from once it is submitted to the end, making 

it through both houses. We know that not all bills make it through both houses, and 

sometimes members submit bills and then do not even go forward with them—the bill is 

written, Legal has done all this work, it gets to the time we are supposed to drop it on the 

floor, and it is, no, I changed my mind, not going to go ahead. Do you have numbers of either 

the financial cost for each BDR or the financial savings that we could, as a state, possibly 

experience based on this legislation?  

 

Asher Killian: 

I do not have those numbers with me, but I will be happy to generate them for you. I can say, 

in the interest of that question, there is a significant amount of overtime our staff works to 

draft legislation. It is not cost-free. Every piece of legislation does come with a cost in the 

form of staff overtime.  

 

With some of the changes we made this session to extend that drafting over the interim to the 

greatest extent possible, we have been able to create overtime savings. I can run the numbers 

and get a sense of what the average number of hours worked on a bill is to get a sense of 

what the average amount of savings per bill would be. Even without reducing the number 

of BDRs, the more of that drafting we can stretch out into the period of the interim before the 

session, the less overtime we have to work. It is the drafting during session that generates 

the most overtime per bill. There definitely would be a significant amount of savings 

associated with these changes and I can do a little bit of work to put some numbers together 

for you to give you a sense of what that might look like.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

I will invite you to sit back as we start testimony. We will start in Carson City for support of 

Assembly Bill 585.  

 

Joshua Skaggs, Legislative Affairs Director, Nevada Republican Party: 

The Nevada Republican Party is here today in support of A.B. 585. Our party platform states 

that we support lower taxes, fees, and a reduction in the scope of government at all levels. 

We believe A.B. 585 can lead to a reduction in the scope of government at the state level.  

 

Assembly Bill 585 could enhance efficiency in the legislative process by reducing excessive 

bill draft requests, ensuring lawmakers focus on well-developed proposals rather than 

overwhelming the system with unnecessary duplicative and potentially meaningless 

showboating legislation. 
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By imposing stricter deadlines and limiting the number of requests, the bill promotes 

accountability and streamlines government operations, aligning with our party's commitment 

to reducing bureaucracy and unnecessary expenditure. We would also like to thank Minority 

Leader Robin Titus for introducing a similar bill. Senate Bill 109 is quite similar to A.B. 585, 

as both bills focus on reducing the number of legislative measures that can be requested and 

streamlining the legislative process.  

 

Lynn Chapman, State Vice President, Nevada Families for Freedom: 

I have some very interesting information. Bill Kramer wrote an article in December 2024. He 

was talking about bills and he said, "By our count, lawmakers across 50 states introduced 

246,405 bills over the 2023-2024 legislative sessions, with numbers increasing every year." 

Think about it. That is over a quarter of a million bills in one year. New York is the one that 

has the most bills, and Alaska the least bills. It is interesting that California now has capped 

the amount of bills they are introducing every year.  

 

I have been here every session since 1987 but doing only a few bills at first. Now there are so 

many bills. I have supported this type of bill each and every time it has come up. So, 

Hallelujah—I am really excited to see it is back up again. I can remember, many times we 

have had bills—maybe six or seven bills on the same subject matter, trying to achieve the 

same thing—but we have all these different hearings and all these different bills. Can they 

not combine people and work together? We can combine some of these things and maybe 

have two bills instead of six. That sure would help.  

 

We would love to have you have time to be able to do more research, lots of debate, 

amending bills—potentially this would lead to having better bills because we would have the 

time to do it. Please support this bill. 

 

Janine Hansen, State Chairman, Independent American Party: 

This is a wonderful idea and we are so thankful for it. We have always supported all the bills 

by former Assemblymembers McArthur and Titus that have been here before and we support 

this. We are glad that the Speaker has presented it. We are always glad when we can have the 

occasion to support something he is doing. We think this saves time, it saves money, it saves 

legislators, it saves staff, it saves taxpayers, and it saves citizens. We are really happy to have 

this. We think it is a great idea.  

 

I was here so long ago that I remember before the 120-day sessions. One year we were here 

well into June. I was trying to be at Tahoe during that time, driving down. Sometimes there is 

a big adjustment as things change and we learn new things. I think this is one of the things 

we need to recognize: we can have fewer bills, they can be improved in quality, and we have 

more time to consider them. I just think it is a great idea. We support it.  
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Scott Johnston, Private Citizen, Reno, Nevada: 

I first came into this the previous session and was pretty overwhelmed with all the bills, so 

I jumped in with both feet this year. I am also a part of the Washoe GOP Legislative 

Committee. We have probably 15 to 20 people working tirelessly reviewing bills, seeing 

what has passed, what is going forward—it is a huge job. I cannot imagine what it is for you. 

 

We definitely support this bill in getting better bills, fewer bills, and making all the meetings 

and all of our jobs, especially the citizen lobbyists—for us to be able to go on to NELIS 

[Nevada Electronic Legislative Information System], look at all the bills, come down here, 

meet with you, and give our opinions on what is happening with them. I think this is a great 

move and I do not know why it has taken so long to get this passed.  

 

Maurice Washington, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 

I think this is a great piece of legislation. Kudos to the Speaker. I am probably one of those 

old relics that worked on the other side of the 120 days and the session that Ms. Hansen 

mentioned that went way into June—I was part of that session. We went through the changes 

of going through 120 days trying to meet the timelines and the bill drafts and working with 

the committees, to where we are today.  

 

I think reducing the number of BDRs that are requested not only makes your job better, but it 

also makes LCB, which I give kudos to—LCB is the best staff in all the world, they do a 

yeoman's job for the amount of work that they have to do—I just applaud them. I am 

requesting that you support this bill, reduce the numbers, because on this side, it is even more 

difficult.  

 

Kathleen Seline, Private Citizen, Fallon, Nevada: 

I am in support of this bill. I actually was here in 1997 too. I was an intern and I remember 

that it was a 169-day session, and the following year they changed it to 120 days, which is 

good. It gets it done faster, but then it piles in all of the bills, and it is a little overwhelming. 

For LCB, for you legislators, for the citizen lobbyists, the paid lobbyists, and everyone, it is a 

lot of work. I am in strong support of this bill.  

 

A'Esha Goins, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 

I am here as a citizen, and I just want to thank Assemblymember Yeager for bringing this 

bill. I think it is so important. I have not been in this building that long, but I remember the 

first time Mr. McArthur brought this and I watched it, and I remember saying to myself, he 

has a point—this is crazy. It was his last session. I met him on the side and I said, if this bill 

ever comes again, I am going to make it a point to stand up and say you are right. So, on his 

behalf, I also just agree.  

 

This is tough, right? I cannot imagine what it is for all of you. I appreciate your service, and I 

appreciate the communities at large who also show up, but collaboration is key. I think if we 

collaborated more, it would not be so overwhelming. I think minimizing the bills makes us 

have to collaborate. I think that is important for the state, because then we get more 

constituent voices, we get more community voices heard. I think that is really the point. 
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Having bills and being disruptive with each other is not how we get real work done. It is not 

how we get real change. I do this work because I believe in the change, so I am urging you to 

please pass this bill this time.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

Seeing no others here in Carson City and no one in Las Vegas, I will open the phone lines in 

support of Assembly Bill 585. 

 

Yolanda Knaak, Private Citizen, Incline Village, Nevada:  

Please support this bill. It would streamline the process so much. I think it would really take 

a lot of stress off of the legislators and the lobbyists.  

 

[Exhibit C was submitted but not discussed and is included as an exhibit for the hearing.] 

 

Chair Mosca: 

Having no more testimony in support, we will open up testimony in opposition to A.B. 585. 

Seeing no one come to the table here in Carson City, and still seeing no one in Las Vegas, we 

will open up the phone lines for opposition to A.B. 585. [There was no one.]  

 

[Exhibit D was submitted but not discussed and is included as an exhibit for the hearing.]  

 

With that, we will move to neutral. Seeing no one in Carson City or Las Vegas, the phone 

lines are open to anyone in neutral. [There was no one.] With that, I will invite the Speaker to 

come back for any closing remarks.  

 

Assemblymember Yeager: 

I appreciate those who testified in support. That is not the normal crowd who testifies in 

support of my bills in this Committee, so that was nice. I have a couple quick points you may 

be curious about. There are other BDRs that exist out in the world that do not live in statute. 

Under our joint standing rules we have with the Assembly and the Senate, Joint Standing 

Rule 14.4 gives additional bills to the Speaker, to the Majority Leader, and to the minority 

party. We cannot change that here in statute, but I am committed to reducing those numbers 

of BDRs as well because, if I am not mistaken, somewhere in the neighborhood of 

150ish BDRs live in Joint Standing Rule 14.4.  

 

Obviously, that is a conversation I would have to have—if I am lucky enough to be in this 

position next session—with the Senate Majority Leader, but I think that is the way we could 

further reduce those bills. Those are both the traditional Joint Standing Rule 14 BDRs that 

come in as committee bills, and they include the emergency bills that the four legislative 

leaders have towards the end of session. Just know, I see this as the step we can take in 

statute, but there are other things we can do as legislators when we adopt the rules to try to 

further limit BDRs. I am committed to doing that.  

 

  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/LOE/ALOE1151C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/LOE/ALOE1151D.pdf
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The final thing I want to say is to echo some of the comments. One of the real privileges of 

being the Speaker is I get to work all the time with our staff. When I was newly elected, I 

would make requests, things would just happen, and you go on with your day. I have had a 

real privilege to interact with all the different divisions of LCB and see the great work that 

they do. Obviously, Legal does a lot of work for us in drafting the bills. I want to take a 

moment here as we get toward the end of session to thank everybody who works for LCB 

and makes this building operate and frankly makes us look good. They do so much work 

behind the scenes that is just not seen and I wanted to let them know—if they happen to be 

listening to this hearing—just how much we appreciate them. I urge your support of 

Assembly Bill 585.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

I will close the hearing on A.B. 585 and turn the gavel over to our Vice Chair.  

 

[Assemblymember González assumed the Chair.] 

 

Vice Chair González: 

When you are ready, we will open the hearing on Assembly Bill 588, which revises 

provisions relating to members of the Assembly in the Nevada Legislature.  

 

Assembly Bill 588: Revises provisions relating to members of the Assembly of the 

Nevada Legislature. (BDR 17-1235) 

 

Assemblymember Erica Mosca, Assembly District No. 14: 

I am pleased to present Assembly Bill 588 before you today, which revises the title of a 

member of the Assembly to "Assemblymember" throughout the Nevada Revised Statutes 

(NRS). Some background. As you know, the Joint Standing Rules of the Senate and 

Assembly changed the title of a member of the Nevada Assembly to Assemblymember 

regardless of the member's gender. Consistent with the rules of the 83rd Legislature, 

A.B. 588 revises references to the title of a member of the Assembly throughout NRS so we 

are able to change that in our rules.  

 

However, in NRS, there is another place where it exists, and that is what this bill is. 

Assembly Bill 588 largely makes technical changes to replace "Assemblywoman" and 

"Assemblyman" with "Assemblymember," but I would like to highlight two sections of the 

bill that contain more substantive changes. In section 1, it eliminates the authority of a female 

member of the Assembly to have "Assemblywoman" precede her name on the official 

stationery and business cards. Additionally, section 13 requires the Department of Motor 

Vehicles (DMV) to furnish each Assembly member a special license plate that says "State 

Assemblymember" along with the designated number showing the seniority of that member. 

Finally, section 16 of the bill clarifies the change to such specialty license plates will not take 

effect until after the 2026 General Election to avoid the license plates having to be 

refurnished now to avoid a cost to the state. I thank you for considering these changes and I 

will take questions.  

 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12944/Overview/
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Vice Chair González: 

Members, are there questions? 

 

Assemblymember Hibbetts: 

I did some research into this, and it is my understanding that California allows their 

representatives to choose Assemblyman, Assemblywoman, or Assemblymember. Why 

should I give up my choice for my title?  

 

Assemblymember Mosca: 

This bill just makes conforming changes in NRS to what was already changed in the Joint 

Standing Rules. For me, personally, I like the change because I think it can ensure that we 

have some government efficiency when we are having items in the Legislature. The 

importance of this bill is, it is already changed in the Joint Standing Rules, so this just 

ensures that the things in NRS that are impacted by this are the same.  

 

Assemblymember Monroe-Moreno:  

I think it was my freshman session in this building—way back in 2016—I had a bill that had 

a number of women legislators on the bill. Because one man added his name as a cosponsor 

on the bill, we all went from Assemblywomen on the bill to Assemblymen—because of that 

one man. We started the conversation then that we are all Assembly members—why should 

we all not just be Assemblymembers? In the Senate, when the bill comes out, it is Senator. 

The gender of the member does not matter; they are all senators.  

 

I appreciate you putting in this piece of legislation so that we are all considered equal as 

Assembly members, and that no man in this building outweighs any woman who is also 

doing the same work in this building.  

 

Assemblymember Dickman: 

When former Assemblymember Patty Cafferata served in this body, she told me they were 

referred to as Madam Assemblyman. What is wrong with that?  

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

It is my understanding that this bill was brought just to put us, again, in compliance with our 

joint standing rules that we passed at the beginning of session. This is not changing anything. 

We are just now going to be in compliance with the standing rules that we voted on the first 

day of session, which I believe was Assembly Resolution 1 of the 2025 Legislative Session.  

 

Assemblymember Mosca: 

Yes, exactly.  

 

Assemblymember Hibbetts:  

In section 16, the issuance of new license plates will not happen until after the 2026 election; 

however, that will still be within the current biennium we are discussing now. With DMV 

loving to put fiscal notes on everything under the sun—even bills they have nothing to do  
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with—I was wondering how we got away without any kind of a note? I apologize because I 

know this is not the Assembly Committee on Ways and Means, but if there is no fiscal note, 

we are not going to Ways and Means. I would like to just ask that.  

 

Assemblymember Mosca: 

Yes, we put specifically that it would not start until after the 2026 General Election, which 

should avoid the fiscal note, but could we go to Legal, Vice Chair?  

 

Asher Killian, Committee Counsel:  

Our understanding and drafting of this based on conversations with the Department of Motor 

Vehicles is that it is part of their routine process at that point after the general election to 

issue these plates anyway, because members get reelected or do not get reelected. There is a 

general issuance of these plates at that time regardless. By pushing off the change to 

"Assemblymember" to the time when they would already be reprinting the plates would 

eliminate the cost as opposed to if they had to print them one additional time before they 

ordinarily reprint them.  

 

Vice Chair González: 

I also think that brings a great point about being efficient and having to separate the two 

license plates. Now everybody just gets one, so I do really appreciate the bill.  

 

We will move to support testimony. Seeing no one in Carson City, we will go down to 

Las Vegas. Seeing no one in Las Vegas, we will go to the phone line for support testimony of 

Assembly Bill 588. [There was no one.] We will now move to testimony in opposition to 

Assembly Bill 588 in Carson City. 

 

Joshua Skaggs, Legislative Affairs Director, Nevada Republican Party: 

Assembly Bill 588 unnecessarily alters historical traditional titles and erases gender 

distinctions that are important to men and women. Gender titles are not inherently outdated. 

They are a sign of respect for women who have fought hard to achieve equality with men.  

 

We find it ironic that Nevada has the honor and distinction of being the female majority 

Legislature while simultaneously seeking to erase women. Several legislators of both genders 

spoke out against this change when it was implemented by rule at the beginning of the 

session because they understood the change was demeaning to women.  

 

Assembly Bill 588 appears to be politically motivated gender ideology activism and distracts 

from more pressing legislative priorities such as economic issues and educational reform. 

Please vote no on A.B. 588.  

 

Janine Hansen, State Chairman, Independent American Party: 

I really appreciated what Assemblyman Hibbetts said. I think it is important for people to be 

able to recognize and be identified in the way they would like to be identified. I think it is 

very important especially for women who have fought so long to be recognized and to have 
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recognition in these ways. I think this demeans that opportunity. In our party, we recognize 

two genders and so we oppose the bill. 

 

I want to say how much I have appreciated the Chair of the Committee because she has 

always been so fair. It has nothing to do with her, and I appreciate her very much, but we do 

oppose this.  

 

Vice Chair González: 

Seeing no others in Carson City, we will move down to Las Vegas. Seeing no one in 

Las Vegas, we will turn to the phone lines for opposition to A.B. 588. 

 

Jim DeGraffenreid, National Committeeman, Nevada Republic Party: 

I am here today in opposition to A.B. 588. I agree with the testimony that was given 

previously. One additional thing I wanted to mention is that it was pointed out that this brings 

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) into compliance with the Assembly Joint Standing Rules that 

were passed at the beginning of the session. It seems like that should be the other way around 

and the Joint Standing Rules should comply with state law. It also seems like locking this 

change into NRS would make it harder to make a correction later on.  

 

Vice Chair Gonzalez: 

We will now go to neutral testimony. Is there anybody here in Carson City who would like to 

make neutral testimony on Assembly Bill 588? Seeing no one, we will move to Las Vegas. 

Seeing no one in Las Vegas, we will now move to the phone lines. [There was no one.] 

 

Assemblymember Mosca, would you like to make closing remarks? [Final remarks were 

waived.] I will hand the Chair back over to Chair Mosca.  

 

[Assemblymember Mosca reassumed the Chair.]  

 

Chair Mosca: 

Members, please note that the Speaker has waived Rule 57.4 of the Assembly Joint Standing 

Rules to allow committees to take final action on bills within 24 hours after they were heard. 

It is my intention today to work session the bills we just heard, Assembly Bill 585 and 

Assembly Bill 588.  

 

At this time, I will open the work session on Assembly Bill 585. We just heard this. The 

measure is sponsored by the Assembly Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections 

and revises provisions relating to bill draft requests and was presented by Assemblymember 

Yeager. 

 

Assembly Bill 585: Revises provisions relating to bill draft requests. (BDR 17-1137) 

 

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12937/Overview/
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Chair Mosca: 

Are there any questions at this time? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to do pass 

Assembly Bill 585. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER GONZÁLEZ MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 585. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JAUREGUI SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? 

 

Assemblymember Hibbetts: 

While I support the intent of A.B. 585 and think that the reduction in bill draft requests 

(BDRs) would bring better legislation, I cannot support this as it does not reduce the number 

of BDRs allotted to unelected bureaucrats and only reduces the BDRs allotted to the elected 

representatives of the people of this state. For that reason, I will be a no. 

 

Assemblymember Cole: 

I, like my colleague, will be a no on this. I am concerned with limiting elected lawmakers' 

ability to make laws, especially considering that this bill is going to further reduce the ability 

for the minority party to actually partake in the lawmaking process.  

 

I do support the deadlines on getting details to the Legislative Counsel Bureau and support 

requiring more bills to be prefiled, if that could be added in and amended. To some of the 

people's points about collaborating with others, there are very strict confidentiality rules 

around BDRs. We do not know what anybody else is doing until those bills are introduced, 

so it makes that difficult.  

 

Assemblymember Dickman: 

I would like to be a yes but reserve because I do like the idea of reducing the number of bills, 

but I tend to agree with Assemblymember Hibbetts. I will be a yes right now. I may change 

to a no.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

Are there any other comments? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS COLE, EDGEWORTH, 

AND HIBBETTS VOTED NO.) 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Nadeem. The next measure for 

consideration is Assembly Bill 588. This measure is sponsored by the Assembly Committee 

on Legislative Operations and Elections and revises provisions relating to members of the 

Assembly of the Nevada Legislature, which I just presented. 
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Assembly Bill 588: Revises provisions relating to members of the Assembly of the 

Nevada Legislature. (BDR 17-1235) 

 

Chair Mosca: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to do pass 

Assembly Bill 588.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER GONZÁLEZ MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 588. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JAUREGUI SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS COLE, DICKMAN, 

EDGEWORTH, AND HIBBETTS VOTED NO.) 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Moore. I will now close the work 

session. Our last item of business is public comment. [There was none.]  

 

Assemblymember González: 

Because we do not know if this is our last meeting or not, we wanted to give you our 

Committee gift since it is probably the last time we will be in this room together. It was not 

ready in time for our party last week. This is a thank you from the Committee, and 

congratulations on chairing for the first time.  

 

Chair Mosca: 

Thank you so much. I appreciate it, Committee members, and with that, I will adjourn the 

meeting [at 3:17 p.m.].  

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 

 

  

Kristi Howard 

Committee Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED BY: 

 

 

  

Assemblymember Erica Mosca, Chair 

 

DATE:     
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EXHIBITS 

 

Bill Exhibit Witness / Agency Description 

 A  Agenda 

 B  Attendance Roster 

A.B. 585 C Various Individuals Letters in support 

A.B. 585 D Kimberly Fergus, Private Citizen, 

Las Vegas, Nevada 

Letter in opposition 

 


